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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 
JULIE TOWBIN, through her mother and  
next friend, Debbie Hammer, 
 

Plaintiff,     Case No.: 9:12cv80069 
 
v. 
 
MICHAEL F. McAULIFFE, in his official  
capacity as State Attorney for the Fifteenth  
Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County, 
Florida; TIM HOLLADAY, JOSE LUIS  
RODRIGUEZ, ALIA S. FARAJ-JOHNSON,  
G. GREGORY KING, E. LEON JACOBS, JR.  
and BRIAN M. SEYMOUR, in their official  
capacities as Commissioners of the Florida  
Elections Commission, 
 
 Defendants. 
________________________________________/ 

 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
 

 This is an action for declaratory and injunctive relief. Plaintiff Julie Towbin 

is under the age of eighteen and unemancipated.1 Plaintiff is expressly precluded 

from making a contribution in excess of $100 to any candidate for state or local 

office, or to any political committee supporting one or more candidates under 

penalty of imprisonment, or fine, pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 106.08(1)(b)(2) (2011). 

This prohibition is a violation of Plaintiff’s rights under the First Amendment to the 

United States Constitution. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief.   

 

                                                 
1  Plaintiff waives the privacy protection afforded to her by Fed.R.Civ.P. 

5.2(a). See Fed.R.Civ.P. 5.2(h). 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. Plaintiff’s claim arises under the Constitution and laws of the United 

States. This Court has jurisdiction over the claim pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 

1343(a), and has authority to grant declaratory and injunctive relief under 28 

U.S.C. § 2201-2202 and Fed.R.Civ.P. 57 and 65. The federal rights asserted by 

Plaintiff are enforceable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

2. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) as Plaintiff 

resides in Palm Beach County, Florida, within the Southern District of Florida, 

Palm Beach Division and her Constitutional rights are being deprived in Palm 

Beach County. In addition, Defendants McAuliffe, Rodriguez, and Seymour reside 

in the Southern District of Florida. 

 
PARTIES 

3. Plaintiff is a seventeen year old citizen of the United States and 

resident of Palm Beach County, Florida. She brings this action through her mother 

and next friend, Debbie Hammer. 

4. Defendant Michael F. McAuliffe is the State Attorney for the Fifteenth 

Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County, Florida. As the State Attorney, 

Defendant McAuliffe is expressly vested with the duty to investigate and prosecute 

violations of state law, including election laws that occur in Palm Beach County, 

pursuant to Fla. Stat. §§ 27.02 and 106.25(6). Defendant McAuliffe is sued in his 

official capacity for prospective injunctive and declaratory relief. 
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5. Defendants Tim Holladay, Jose Luis Rodriguez, Alia S. Faraj-Johnson, 

Gregory King, E. Leon Jacobs, Jr. and Brian M. Seymour are duly appointed 

members of the Florida Elections Commission (“FEC Defendants”). Pursuant to Fla. 

Stat. § 106.25, the Florida Elections Commission is expressly vested with the 

authority to investigate and determine campaign finance violations. The FEC 

Defendants are sued in their official capacity only for prospective injunctive and 

declaratory relief. The FEC Defendants regularly investigate and administratively 

prosecute violations of § 106.08, and the Commission has done so for more than 30 

years. 

 
FACTS 

6. Julie Towbin is currently 17 years old and will turn 18 in September 

2012. She is not emancipated and resides with her parents in their home. Plaintiff 

is in her senior year of high school, is registered to vote and intends to vote in the 

November 2012 local, state and national elections.  

7. During the spring semester of Ms. Towbin’s junior year of high school 

(in 2011), she was appointed to the House Page program in Washington D.C. The 

House Page program paid Ms. Towbin more than $7,000 for the time she spent 

working on the floor of the House of Representatives and in the halls of the Capital. 

Ms. Towbin saved most of this money and deposited it in her own bank account in 

Palm Beach County. 

8. Ms. Towbin’s father is a co-signer on her bank account because she is 

too young to have a bank account solely in her name; however, this money belongs 
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solely to Ms. Towbin and neither of her parents has ever attempted to access Ms. 

Towbin’s money from this account.  

9. Ms. Towbin is active in local politics and in 2011 was invited to attend 

a local political event organized by the Palm Beach County Democratic Executive 

Committee (“PBCDEC”). The ticket price for the event was $150 and Ms. Towbin 

was told by the organizers that that the purchase of a ticket constituted a 

contribution to the PBCDEC. Curious about contribution limits, Ms. Towbin 

researched Florida law to see if she was restricted in any way. She found Fla. Stat. 

§ 106.08(1)(b)(2) and was concerned that it applied to the contribution to the 

PBCDEC. She called the Florida Elections Commission to ask about the statute and 

was told that there were criminal and civil penalties for violating the statute. She 

also talked with a couple of people she knew from the PBCDEC who suggested that 

she contact the ACLU about the contribution restrictions on her ability to purchase 

a ticket given the concern that she could be in violation of the statute if she 

purchased the ticket. Ms. Towbin wanted to go to the event and was willing and 

able to purchase a ticket with her own money; however, since she was under 18 and 

unemancipated, Ms. Towbin believed that if she bought the ticket she would be 

knowingly violating state law.2   

                                                 
2  In fact, Ms. Towbin could have purchased the ticket without running 

afoul of the challenged statute. See Fla. Stat. § 106.011(2)(b) (a county executive 
committee of a political party is not considered a political committee for purposes of 
Chapter 106). However, her intended political contributions, described infra, would 
violate the statute. 

Case 9:12-cv-80069-XXXX   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 01/26/2012   Page 4 of 11



5 
 

10. Consequently, Ms. Towbin did not purchase a ticket and did not attend 

this political event in Palm Beach County. Ms. Towbin was sincerely afraid that if 

she purchased the ticket she would be criminally prosecuted, or fined, for violating 

Fla. Stat. § 106.08(1)(b)(2).  

11. Since 2012 is an election year, Ms. Towbin continues with her 

intention of contributing more than $100 to the campaign account of a local 

candidate, or candidates, of her choice, including a local school board candidate.  

12. Ms. Towbin has not contributed to any candidate’s campaign, as she is 

sincerely afraid that if she contributes in excess of $100 to a candidate, she will be 

criminally prosecuted, or fined, for knowingly violating Fla. Stat. § 106.08(1)(b)(2). 

But for the statute, Ms. Towbin would contribute more than $100 to a Palm Beach 

County School Board candidate. 

13. Once Ms. Towbin became aware of the existence and direct impact of 

Fla. Stat. § 106.08(1)(b)(2) on her intentions to make political contributions in 2012, 

she wrote to Susan Bucher, Palm Beach County Supervisor of Elections,3 to 

determine if the statute was still in force and if her proposed political 

contribution(s) would put her at risk of prosecution, or fine. Her correspondence to 

Supervisor Bucher is attached as Exhibit A. 

14. Supervisor Bucher, responded in writing to Ms. Towbin and attached a 

copy of Fla. Stat. § 106.08(1)(b)(2). The Supervisor confirmed that “current law 

prohibits contributions to political committees from a person under the age of 18 

                                                 
3  Supervisor Bucher has not been named as a defendant because she has 

no enforcement responsibilities with regard to the challenged statute. 
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exceeding $100.00.” The correspondence from Supervisor Bucher is attached as 

Exhibit B. 

15. Ms. Towbin also wrote to Palm Beach County State Attorney, 

Defendant Michael F. McAuliffe, to determine if Fla. Stat. § 106.08(1)(b)(2) was still 

in force and if her proposed political contributions would put her at risk of 

prosecution, or fine. Her correspondence to Defendant McAuliffe is attached as 

Exhibit C. 

16. Defendant McAuliffe responded in writing, sending Ms. Towbin a copy 

of the challenged statute. Defendant McAuliffe refused to provide her with an 

“advisory opinion.” The correspondence from Defendant McAuliffe is attached as 

Exhibit D. 

17. Ms. Towbin also wrote to the FEC Defendants to determine if the 

challenged statute was still in force and whether her proposed political 

contributions would put her at risk of criminal prosecution, or fine. Her 

correspondence to the FEC Defendants is attached as Exhibit E. 

18. The FEC Defendants, through their legal counsel, declined to provide 

Ms. Towbin with any advice or opinion. The correspondence from the FEC 

Defendants is also attached as Exhibit E. 

19. Ms. Towbin also wrote to the Florida Attorney General to determine if 

the challenged statute was still in force and whether her proposed political 

contributions would put her at risk of criminal prosecution, or fine. Her 

correspondence to the Attorney General is attached as Exhibit F. 
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20. The Attorney General forwarded Ms. Towbin’s letter to the 

Department of State which responded affirmatively that Fla. Stat. § 106.08(1)(b)(2) 

“remains applicable for contributions to candidates or political committees from 

unemancipated children.” The correspondence from the Department of State is 

attached as Exhibit G.  

21. The Department of State further informed Ms. Towbin that there were 

“criminal penalties for violation” of § 106.08(1)(b)(2) and directed her to Fla. Stat. §§ 

106.08(7) and (8) for those penalties. See Exhibit G. 

22. All Defendants and Supervisor Bucher were provided with the 

opportunity to expressly advise Ms. Towbin that they would not enforce Fla. Stat. § 

106.08(1)(b)(2) if she made a political contribution in excess of $100, as a minor. 

None were willing to advise or assure Ms. Towbin that she would not be prosecuted 

or fined for violating this statute.  

23. The Department of State expressly informed Ms. Towbin that the 

statute would apply to her contributions and that there were criminal penalties for 

violation of the statute. See Exhibit G. 

24. Any person possessing information of an alleged violation by Ms. 

Towbin of this provision may file a sworn complaint against her with the FEC 

Defendants. Fla. Stat. § 106.25(2). A sworn complaint will automatically trigger an 

investigation and probable cause determination against Ms. Towbin. Id. If probable 

cause is found, it may lead to a hearing before the FEC Defendants, or a referral to 
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Defendant McAuliffe, for further investigation and potential criminal prosecution. 

Fla. Stat. §§ 106.25(4), (6).  

25. Ms. Towbin has a definite, and serious, desire and intention to 

contribute in excess of $100 to a political committee and/or candidates of her choice 

in 2012. She reasonably fears that if she contributes more than $100 to any political 

candidate, or committee, in violation of Fla. Stat. § 106.08(1)(b)(2), she will be 

prosecuted, or threatened with prosecution, that could result in criminal penalties, 

including imprisonment, or administrative fines. Any one of these would seriously 

jeopardize Ms. Towbin’s future educational and employment opportunities.  

26. Consequently, as a direct result of the statute’s applicability to Ms. 

Towbin’s planned contributions, she has not made such contributions and is 

continuing to refrain from making such contributions pending the outcome of this 

litigation. 

27. At all times material to this action, Defendants were acting under color 

of state law. 

28. Ms. Towbin has no adequate remedy at law because the denial of 

Plaintiff’s constitutional rights cannot be remedied through legal relief.  

29. Unless Fla. Stat. § 106.08(1)(b)(2) is declared unconstitutional by the 

Court, and its enforcement is enjoined, Plaintiff will continue to be deprived of her 

First Amendment right to make contributions in excess of $100 to political 

candidates or committees. 
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CAUSE OF ACTION 

30. Fla. Stat. § 106.08(1)(b)(2) is unconstitutional on its face and as applied 

to Plaintiff, in violation of her rights under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to 

the U.S. Constitution. This violation may be redressed pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

 
REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, Plaintiff respectfully requests the following relief: 

a. A declaration that Fla. Stat. § 106.08 (1)(b)(2) is unconstitutional on its 

face as a matter of law; 

b. A declaration that Fla. Stat. § 106.08 (1)(b)(2) is unconstitutional as 

applied to Plaintiff;  

c. A preliminary and permanent injunction enjoining Defendants from 

enforcing Fla. Stat. § 106.08 (1)(b)(2); 

d. An award to Plaintiff of her costs, litigation expenses and attorneys’ fees 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and 

e. Such other and further relief as this Court deems appropriate. 
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     Respectfully submitted, 

/s Randall C. Marshall  

Randall C. Marshall (Fla. Bar No. 181765) 
     ACLU Foundation of Florida, Inc. 
     4500 Biscayne Blvd., Suite 340 
     Miami, FL 33137 
     Tel: (786) 363-2700 
     Fax: (786) 363-3108 
     rmarshall@aclufl.org  
 

James K. Green (Fla. Bar No. 229466) 
James K. Green, P.A. 
Suite 1650, Esperanté 
222 Lakeview Ave. 
West Palm Beach, FL 33401 
Tel: (561) 659-2029  
Fax: (561) 655-1357  
jameskgreen@bellsouth.net  
 
Cooperating Attorney for the American Civil 
Liberties Union Foundation of Florida, Inc.  
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Julie Towbin 
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PLAINTIFF’S

EXHIBIT A
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PLAINTIFF’S

EXHIBIT B
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PLAINTIFF’S

EXHIBIT C
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PLAINTIFF’S

EXHIBIT D
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PLAINTIFF’S

EXHIBIT E
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PLAINTIFF’S

EXHIBIT F
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J U LI E  T OW B I N  

Phone: 561-674-2906 

E-mail: julietowbin@aol.com 

23028 Old Inlet Bridge Drive 

Boca Raton, Florida 33433 

Pam Bondi  

Attorney General 

The Capitol PL-01  

Tallahassee, FL  

32399-1050 

 

Dear Ms.Bondi, 

 

       My name is Julie Towbin. I am 17 years old, but will turn 18 before the November 2012 elections. I live with my par-

ents in Palm Beach County. I am active in local politics and was recently invited to attend a local political event. The ticket 

price for the event was $150. I have earned money from several jobs and I have saved this money in my own personal bank 

account. When I went to purchase the ticket I was told by the organizers that the ticket purchase constitutes a contribution to 

our local political committee. I was also told that since I was under 18, if I bought the ticket, I would be contributing more 

than $100 to the local political committee in violation of a Florida Statute. I think it was Section 106.08(1)(b)(2). I was una-

ble to attend this political event because I was afraid that if I purchased the ticket I could get in trouble for violating this law. 

     Since this is an election year. I want to contribute more than a hundred dollars to a particular candidate for school board. 

However, I am no very concerned that if I do so, I may be prosecuted for violating the law. Can you tell me if Section106.08

(1)(b)(2) is still a valid law and, if it is, whether, as a 17 year old, my proposed contribution of more than a hundred dollars 

to the candidate of my choice could put me at any risk of criminal prosecution, or a fine? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Thank you for your time and your prompt response, 

Julie Towbin 
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EXHIBIT G
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Dear Ms. Towbin:
  
The Attorney General forwarded your request for an opinion about the applicability of s. 
106.08(1)(b)2., Florida Statutes, to the Department of State.  That particular section of law 
remains applicable for contributions to candidates or political committees from unemancipated 
children.  It reads:
  
Notwithstanding the limits provided in this subsection, an unemancipated child under the age 
of 18 years of age may not make a contribution in excess of $100 to any candidate or to any 
political committee supporting one or more candidates.
  
The criminal penalties for violation of that provision are contained in subsections (7) and (8) 
of s. 106.08, Florida Statutes, which you may find at:http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/
index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0100-0199/0106/Sections/
0106.08.html. 
  
In your letter to the Attorney General, you state you will turn 18 before the November 2012 
elections.  Upon turning age 18, you may make contributions up to the limit of $500, per 
election, to any candidate or any political committee supporting or opposing candidates, as set 
forth in s. 106.08, Florida Statutes. 
  
I trust you find this reply responsive to your request to the Attorney General. 
  
Sincerely,
  
Gary J. Holland
Assistant General Counsel
Florida Department of State
R.A. Gray Building, 500 S. Bronough Street
Tallahassee, FL 32399-0250
Phone:  850-245-6536
Fax:  850-245-6127
  
Note:  This response is provided for reference only and does not constitute a formal legal 
opinion or representation from the Department of State or the Division of Elections.  As 
applied to a particular set of facts or circumstances, interested parties should refer to the 
Florida Statutes and applicable case law, and/or consult an attorney to represent their 
interests before drawing any legal conclusions or relying upon the information provided. 
  
Florida has a very broad public records law.  Written communications to or from state officials 
regarding state business constitute public records and are available to the public and media 
upon request unless the information is subject to a specific statutory exemption.  Therefore, 
this email and any that you sent that generated this response may be subject to public 
disclosure.   
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 The Department of State is leading the commemoration of Florida's 500th anniversary in 2013. For more information, please go to 
www.fla500.com.
Secretary of State Kurt Browning is committed to maintaining a high level of service in all areas of the Department of State. If 
you have feedback on your service, please take the department's Customer Satisfaction Survey. Thank you in advance for your 
participation.
DOS Customer Satisfaction Survey
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